Milford Community Cemetery Board Minutes of Meeting April 21, 2023

The Milford Community Cemetery Board of the City of Milford was held in the Joseph Ronnie Rogers Council Chambers at Milford City Hall, 201 South Walnut Street, Milford, DE 19963 on Friday, April 21, 2023. The meeting was available for public view and participation as permitted.

PRESIDING: Mayor Archie Campbell

IN ATTENDANCE: Members Mark Whitfield, Brian Baer, Jean Wylie, Brad Dennehy, Scott

Sipple

STAFF: Deputy City Clerk Katrina White

ABSENT: Danny Skinner

Mayor Campbell called to order the Milford Community Cemetery Board meeting at 10:08 a.m.

Minutes

Councilman Baer made the motion to approve the January 20, 2023 meeting minutes. Board Member Wiley seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

Unfinished Business

Future Management Services

Board Member Sipple gave an overview of the management duties and responsibilities of Sipple and Son. He stated that it had been decided to transition the management duties to Rogers Funeral Home who are being trained to gradually take over. He introduced Carrie Hovatter from Rogers Funeral Home and stated that the duties will be a joint effort for quite a while.

New Business

Finance Report

Due to Mark Johnson, Lank, Johnson & Tull, not being in attendance, the finance report was postponed until the next meeting.

Maintenance Report

Director Dennehy reviewed the maintenance report that was included in the packet. He reported that the Annual Spring Cleanup was performed in March. At the request of the Board, small signs were placed by graves with infractions of the rules. Most of the caretakers have complied with the exception of about 10%. The biggest infraction has been loose stones around the graves and plastic fencing which create maintenance challenges. He also reported that the

grass contractor has agreed to begin cutting the price that was set by the Board at the last meeting. The contractor began cutting grass for the season on April 10, 2023.

Mary Lou Webb, 17484 Kingston Drive Milford, DE 19963, was present and asked if the Hovatters would be taking over the monument part of the business also. Board member Sipple answered no and that his Monument Company is a totally separate thing from what they do to help manage the cemetery affairs. He restated that the monument business and the cemetery are totally separate.

Alice Fox, 12607 Ponder Road, Ellendale, DE 19941, was present and asked what was allowed to be placed by the gravestones. She expressed her displeasure at the violation signs that were placed by the gravesites.

Mayor Campbell stated that it is hard to cut the grass and keep it neat and clean with some of the things that are being placed in the cemetery.

Director Dennehy explained that flowers and things like that can be placed in front of the gravestones. The issue is that there are a set of rules and there are those who are in violation of those rules. That is what is trying to be cleaned up. He stated that if the rules need to be changed, the greater community should come to the Board and make allowances here. He stated that there is white plastic fencing, in some cases, 6 feet away from the grave which is full of all types of memorabilia that had meaning for that individual. This creates challenges for the contractor who does the grass-cutting in the cemetery. During weed whacking, the stones become a projectile which causes a safety hazard.

Director Dennehy further explained that there is a set of rules and unfortunately, some people are not following the rules to the point that it is almost out of control. If those aren't addressed, it will only get worse. He stated that he hopes to see some sort of resolution.

Mayor Campbell asked Mr. Sipple if the lot owners were given the rules when they purchased the lots. Board Member Sipple answered that the rules are spelled out in the deed. Every deed that's been given out since the cemetery opened has the rules and regulations inside. He stated that when the deed is opened up the rules are right in there.

Director Dennehy stated that anyone who has a question or concern can give him a call at the Parks & Recreation Department or stop into the office at 207 Franklin Street. He stated that he can also meet onsite at the cemetery for anyone who needs to meet there with him.

Phyllis Zitvogel, 16159 Oak Road, Bridgeville, DE, was present and stated that it was hard seeing the signs when they have been taking care of their lot for all of these years. She stated that they do pull the weeds and don't have any of the loose stones. She stated that this has upset so many of those who do take the time to go out there to take care of things.

Valerie Schuler, 27 Churchhill Road, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that she did agree with the comments that had been stated and wanted to work towards some sort of compromise. She stated that her father was buried in the cemetery and her mother was upset

about the signs that had been placed. She stated that the communication issue needs to be worked on and is ok with rules but there needs to be compromise on both sides.

Debbie Stokes, P.O. Box 56, Milford, DE 19963 was present and read the rules regarding items to be placed on graves.

- Trees may not be planted.
- All other plantings must be approved by the Cemetery Board.
- During mowing season, all flowers, other than funeral flowers, should be placed within in six inches of stones.
- Glass containers are not to be used in the cemetery.
- No railings, curbing or fences will be permitted.
- During the mowing season all flowers should be placed within 6 inches of the stone.

She also stated that she had the 1989 deed for her family's burial plot and it states, "During mowing season, from April 1st to November 1st, no artificial flowers will be allowed."

Ms. Stokes stated that she did agree with all the safety issues in regard to stones being thrown by mowers and trimmers and visitors/staff being injured. She stated that the rules do make sense and are there for everyone's safety and the convenience of the mowers.

Ms. Stokes showed the Board a vase that can be recessed below ground when not in use that had been removed and stated she was told by Board Member Skinner that the item should not have been removed because it was within 6 inches of the headstone. She measured it and it came out about 7 or 8 inches. Her 1989 deed says she can have this, but it's not in 100% compliance with the new rules.

Director Dennehy responded that there are a lot of rules and it clearly doesn't make sense what Ms. Stokes depicted as interfering with the footer or foundation. The rules need to be changed. He stated that he agrees with the comments about communication. Things perhaps could have been handled differently. If now is the time to update the rules, let's update the rules. Compromise is a great word to use. We have to come to a consensus on what is going to work for the lot owners, Board Member Sipple and the maintenance crew.

Director Dennehy suggested that by the next Board meeting, some of the people that were there be polled to figure out what will and will not work. He asked Mr. Sipple how to go about changing the rules on the deeds because they need to be reflective of what everyone wants.

Ms. Stokes stated that the rules are on the Milford Community Cemetery website, milfordcommunitywebsite.com and recommended for improving communication:

- Place notices on the website and in local newspapers
- Place signs at entrances that list prohibited items since persons other than the deed holder might be placing items on the burial plots and would not be aware of prohibited items.

• Have community representatives on the board. The board responded that there are 2 community representatives currently on the board, Scott Sipple and Jean Wylie.

Board Member Wylie stated that she is not a city employee, she is a lot owner. Board Member Sipple stated that he is on the Board also as a lot owner.

Betty Jane Dittoe, 944 Log Cabin Road, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that she had a sister and brother-in-law and her parents buried in the cemetery. She stated that some of the monuments have rocks down in them and you have to go out a little further to get away from the rocks to be able to bury something. The larger flowerpots are bigger than six inches so it is impossible to put them there. She then asked what would be done about the benches that had been put in front of some of the graves because that was listed as a violation. They were sold in good faith to the people to be put there and asked if the Board would make the lot owner remove them.

Director Dennehy answered not if they were sold with the grave. He reiterated that if the rules needed to be changed, update the rules.

Ms.Dittoe asked about the bricks under the mausoleum that are more than six inches out.

Board Member Sipple stated that there have been several variances over the years that have been brought before and approved by the Board. He further explained that there has always been a provision that a request could be made to the Board to do a certain thing that might not be in compliance with the rules and that has been the case for the 52 years that he has been here.

Ms. Dittoe then asked whose responsibility is it to remove the dead flowers from the new graves. Director Dennehy stated that it has never been established whose responsibility it is and is another thing that will need to be spelled out in the rules with a timeframe in which they will need to be removed.

Matt Wilson, 966 Cantebury Road, Milford, DE 19963 was present and he stated that his father has been in the cemetery since 1993. He stated that pre-covid he was in violation with a brick border and he removed the loose stone. He was unable to get an answer about whether the Virgin Mary statue that was on the grave would be allowed to stay. He stated that he would like to know from the Board going forward if this will be a problem.

Director Dennehy answered that this would not be a problem.

Mr. Wilson stated that he also would like for the communication to improve and would like to be more involved with the Board to help out the people who were there.

Director Dennehy stated that community involvement is welcome.

Mr. Wilson then asked who would be responsible for removing the Christmas wreaths from the veterans' graves.

Director Dennehy stated that the item may be on the next agenda and Wreaths Across America volunteer will install and remove the wreaths.

Jennifer Feindt, 4330 Big Stone Beach Road, Milford, DE 19963, was present and asked if there could be a better approach if something like this need to be done again in the future. She stated that a sign at the entrance would have been more appropriate. She suggested modernizing the contact database to receive emails or texts to get information out. She agrees with having a working group to update the rules.

Carol Blessing, 608 New Street, Milford, DE 19963, was present and suggested having a bulletin board, encased for the weather, at the entrance of the cemetery to post information.

Tracy Jones, 18575 Eleanor Lane, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that she would like to see the meetings held in the evening hours so that more people can attend. She stated that there were other lots out there that she felt should have also been in violation but had no violation signs on the graves. She stated that there needs to be better communication and that others should not be excluded from the rules because they have been grandfathered in. She suggested including information inside with the electric bills to reach those who don't have the internet.

Ryan Rutledge, 894 Church Hill Road, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that he agrees that the meeting should have been held at a different time. He stated that the rules drastically needed to be updated. He asked when the rules had last been updated or modified.

Board Member Sipple answered that he wasn't sure but thought it was probably before the Board had been created about 20 years ago, so possibly 30 years.

Mr. Rutledge asked in what way were the lot owners contacted when there is a violation. Director Dennehy answered pre-Covid as many letters as possible had been sent out. He stated that as Board Member Sipple said there are 6,000 lot owners out there and he doesn't know the percentage of those whom there is no contact information for. Part of the new management system that is going to need to transfer to Rogers Funeral Home is that there has to be an electronic database. Right now, there is none and everything is handwritten on index cards. He explained that is the first thing that needs to occur.

Mr. Rutledge asked where the information is located in reference to a website and if it was on the City website or the Parks and Recreation website. Director Dennehy explained that the City of Milford and the Parks and Recreation are not in control of the cemetery. This is the Milford Community Cemetery Board and about six months ago a new website was created. In this electronic age, that is the vehicle by which the Board is trying to reach as many people as possible to convey any information. He further explained that trying to send out a letter to 6,000 lot owners is problematic on multiple efforts.

Mr. Rutledge suggested creating a Facebook page also to get information out. He asked what the violation penalties were. Director Dennehy responded that there was no penalty or fine for

violations. He reiterated that the Milford Community Cemetery is owned by the lot owners and not the City of Milford or the Parks and Recreation.

Mr.Rutledge asked what the route was for the community in helping to get the rules updated. Director Dennehy stated by having a subcommittee to the Board who could meet and brainstorm to come up with an updated set of rules. The Board meets four times a year and at the conclusion of the meeting, the email and contact list could be used to canvas anyone there who would want to be a part of the committee.

Meghan McCarthy, 7443 Shawnee Road, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that the communication needs to be improved. She stated that she did use social media to spread the word that the violation signs were in the cemetery. She explained that there were issues accessing the cemetery website and obtaining the location for the Cemetery Board meeting. She then asked who had paid for the violation signs that had been placed in the cemetery. Director Dennehy answered that the funds came out of the Milford Community Cemetery operating budget.

Ms. McCarthy asked why there were road signs in the cemetery. Mayor Campbell stated that the street signs were donated by the Lions Club and that the signs would help lot owners locate their loved ones. Ms. McCarthy then referenced the minutes from October 21, 2022, where there was a discussion about a proposal for a bike path easement. City Manager Whitfield responded that the bike path will go along US Route 113 and there is no plan for the bike path to go through the cemetery.

Lisa Obermire, 668 Fork Landing Road, Felton, DE 19943, was present and suggested that inexpensive, weatherproof, closure boards could be put in both locations of the cemetery so that all of the information could be displayed. She stated that regarding the records, a lot of the people are no longer around. She explained that if the records for her parents were looked up, she is not listed and would not have been contacted so she could not blame the board. She stated that however, a way does need to be found to make things better.

Ms. Obermire stated that in regard to who is to maintain the cemetery, she feels that when the flowers have sat out there and need to be removed, it is the family members who should remove them out of respect for their loved ones. She further added that it should not be the responsibility of a crew to go out there and maintain that. She explained that the main reason that she was in attendance was that she had things that were moved but did not have a violation sign on any of her cemetery plots. She stated that in 26 years she has never had anything removed from either cemetery plot and there are several rows that have had things removed that did not receive a violation sign. She does agree that a committee does need to be set up to update the rules and regulations so that everyone can comply.

Morgan Fannin, 402 Abbotts Pond Road, Greenwood, DE 19950, was present and stated that there needs to be a better understanding with everybody. She explained that she maintains a lot in the cemetery that was in violation with stones and bricks and found the signs upsetting. The bricks and stones were removed and replaced with black curbing within the 6 feet as she was advised. She stated that another violation sign was put out after that.

Page 7

Michael Ward, 65 New Hope Drive, Milford, DE 19963, was present and stated that he also got a violation notification for a marble bench with a memorial on it that his dad put out there. He explained that it is heavy and would be hard to remove. He suggested GIS, as a solution to finding out everyone's address to send information and notifying Rob Pierce, the City's Planning Director.

Director Dennehy stated that hearing from everyone who had taken time out of their day and time off from work clearly shows that the Board needs to do a better job with communication. Moving forward, updating the rules needs to be a priority. He again suggested that before the next meeting that those who are on the contact list be contacted to try to form a subcommittee to work on updating the rules and regulations.

All of the board members were in agreement.

Alice Fox reported that there was a large pothole on the last road next to the Dickinson Medical Center that needs to be repaired. Director Dennehy stated that he would address it.

Councilman Baer thanked everyone for coming out.

Mayor Campbell announced that the next meeting would be July 21, 2023, at 10:00 am at City Hall. The following meeting will be on October 12, 2023. He stated that he will make sure everyone gets the information, the committee will be chosen, the number of people to be on the committee and the rules will be reviewed.

Adjournment

With no further business, Mayor Campbell called for a motion to adjourn. Board Member Sipple made a motion to adjourn. Jean Wylie seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

The meeting was adjourned at 11:52 a.m.	
	Katrina L. White, CMC
	Deputy City Clerk/Recording Secretary